
NOTICE OF A REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
TAX INCREMENT REINVESTMENT ZONE NO. 1 

THURSDAY, DECEMBER 5, AT 11:15 A.M. 
SECOND FLOOR CITY HALL 

COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
200 W. VULCAN ST. 
BRENHAM, TEXAS 

1. CALL TO ORDER

2. PUBLIC COMMENTS
An opportunity for citizens to address the Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone No. 1 Board of Directors
regarding matters which are scheduled on this agenda for consideration by the Tax Increment 
Reinvestment Zone No. 1 Board, but not scheduled as a public hearing. 

3. ACTION ITEMS
a) Consider Appointment of a Vice-Chairman and a Secretary for the Tax Increment

Reinvestment Zone No. 1 Board of Directors Page 1 
b) Consider Approval of Bylaws of the Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone No. 1, City of

Brenham, Texas       Pages 2 - 8 
c) Consider Approval of Resolution No. TIRZ-2019-01 of Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone

No. 1, City of Brenham, Texas Final Project and Finance Plan; Making Certain Findings;
and Providing for an Immediate Effective Date      Pages 9 - 113

4. ADJOURNMENT

CERTIFICATION 

I do hereby certify that the above notice of a meeting of the Brenham Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone 
No. 1, City of Brenham, Texas Board of Directors was posted to the City Hall bulletin board at 200 W. 
Vulcan St., Brenham, Texas in compliance with Chapter 551, Texas Government Code on Monday, 
December 2, 2019 at 10:45 A.M. 

Jeana Bellinger, TRMC, CMC 
City Secretary 



    
 
 
To:  Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone No. 1 Board 
 
From:  Carolyn D. Miller 
  Assistant City Manager-Chief Financial Officer 
 
Subject: Approval of Bylaws  
 
Date:  November 27, 2019 
 
 
This agenda item is for the approval of the Bylaws of the Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone 
(TIRZ) No. 1 Board which was created by the City Council at the December 20, 2018 
meeting.  A summary of the Articles in the Bylaws is presented below. 
 

Article 1 Purpose and Powers – City of Brenham authorized the creation of the Board 
to promote the development and redevelopment of certain areas in the jurisdiction.  

 
Article 2 Board of Directors – the Board shall consist of nine directors appointed by 
the City Council who shall serve a two-year term. 
 
Article 3 Officers – the officers shall consist of a Chairman, Vice-Chairman and a 
Secretary with duties as outlined in this Article. 
 
Article 4 Provisions Regarding Bylaws – providing for an effective date and process 
for amending Bylaws.  
 
Article 5 General Provisions – Board member resignations and delegation of power by 
City Council to this Board. 

 
We recommend approval of the Bylaws of the TIRZ No. 1 Board.  

  

1



Page 1 of 6  

BYLAWS OF TAX INCREMENT REINVESTMENT ZONE NUMBER ONE 
CITY OF BRENHAM, TEXAS  

 
ARTICLE I  

PURPOSE AND POWERS 
 

Section 1. Development or Redevelopment in the Zone. In order to promote the 

development and redevelopment of a certain area within its jurisdiction, the City of 

Brenham, Texas (the "City") has authorized the creation of Tax Increment Reinvestment 

Zone Number One, City Of Brenham, Texas, (the "Zone") as set forth in Ordinance No. O-

18-019, dated December 20, 2018 (the “Creation Ordinance”), and as authorized by the Tax 

Increment Financing Act, Chapter 311, Texas Tax Code, as amended (the "Act"). Pursuant to 

the Act, the City has likewise established a Board of Directors for the Zone ("Board"). 

Section 2. Powers. The property and affairs of the Zone shall be managed and 

controlled by the City Council based on the recommendations of the Board, subject to the 

restrictions imposed by law, the Creation Ordinance, and these Bylaws. It is the intention of 

the City Council that the Board shall function in an advisory capacity with respect to the 

Zone and shall exercise only those powers that are either granted to the Board pursuant to 

the Act or delegated to the Board by the City Council. 

ARTICLE II 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

 
Section 1. Powers. Number and Term of Office. As set forth in the Creation 

Ordinance, the Board shall consist of nine directors appointed by the City Council. All 

members shall be appointed by the City Council to Places one (1) through nine (9) as shown 

below: 

Place 1 Mayor (term expires December 31, 2020) 
Place 2 Council Ward 1 (term expires December 31, 2020) 
Place 3 Council Ward 2 (term expires December 31, 2020) 
Place 4 Council Ward 3 (term expires December 31, 2020) 
Place 5 Council Ward 4 (term expires December 31, 2020) 
Place 6 Council Position 5 (term expires December 31, 2020) 
Place 7 Council Position 6 (term expires December 31, 2020) 
Place 8 At-Large Appointment  (term expires December 31, 2020) 
Place 9 At-Large Appointment (term expires December 31, 2020) 

  

2



Page 2 of 6  

 

Each initial Board member shall serve two-year terms, as stipulated in the Act, or 

until his or her successor is appointed. Subsequent directors shall be appointed by the City 

Council and shall serve two-year terms until their successors are appointed by the City 

Council. 

 

In the event of a vacancy caused by the resignation, death or removal, for any reason, 

of a director, the City Council shall be responsible for filling the vacancy.  

Section 2. Regular Meetings. Meetings of the Board shall be held at such times and 

the Board shall designate places as from time to time. All meetings of the Board, or any 

Committees of the Board, shall be public and conducted in accordance with the Texas Open 

Meetings Act, Chapter 551 of the Texas Government Code.  

Section 3. Special and Emergency Meetings. Special and Emergency Meetings of the 

Board shall be held whenever called by the Chairman, or by a majority of the directors then 

in office or upon advice of or request by the City Council or the City Manager, in 

compliance with the applicable provisions of the Texas Open Meetings Act. 

Section 4. Quorum. Five Members of the Board shall constitute a quorum for the 

consideration of matters pertaining to the purposes of the Zone. The act of the majority of 

the directors present at a meeting at which a quorum is in attendance shall constitute the act 

of the Board, unless a greater number is required by law. 

Section 5. Conduct of Business. At the meetings of the Board of Directors, matters 

pertaining to the purposes of the Zone shall be considered in such order as from time to time 

the Board may determine. 

At all meetings of the Board, the Chairman shall preside and in the absence of the 

Chairman, the Vice-Chairman shall exercise the power of the Chairman. 

The Secretary of the Board shall act as Secretary of all meetings of the Board, but in 

the absence of the Secretary, the presiding officer may appoint any person to act as 

Secretary of the meeting. City staff shall provide notice of meetings and prepare meeting 

agendas. 

  

3



Page 3 of 6  

 

Within ten (10) business days following each Regular, Special and Emergency 

meeting, a copy of the minutes of the meeting shall be submitted to the City Secretary of the 

City. 

Section 6. Compensation of Directors. Directors shall not receive any salary or 

compensation for their services, except that they shall be reimbursed for their actual 

expenses incurred in the performance of their duties hereunder. 

Section 7. Attendees. Board Members shall make every effort to attend all Regular, 

Special and Emergency Meetings of the Board and/or any Committees. The City Council 

may replace a City appointee of the Board for non-attendance. 

Section 8. Books and Records: Approval of Programs and Financial Statements. The 

Board shall keep, correct and complete books and records of accounts, and shall also keep 

minutes of its proceedings and the proceedings of any committees having any of the 

authority of the Board. Any director or his agent or attorney may inspect all books and 

records of the Zone for any proper purpose at any reasonable time; and at all times the 

Mayor, City Council, City Manager, City Attorney, and the City Auditor will have access to 

the books and records of the Zone. The City Council must approve all programs and 

expenditures for the Zone and annually review any financial statements of the Zone. 

 
ARTICLE III  

OFFICERS 

Section 1. Titles and Terms of Office. The officers of the Zone shall consist of a 

Chairman, a Vice-Chairman, a Secretary, and such other officers as the Board of Directors 

may from time to time elect or appoint; provided, however, that the City Council shall 

appoint the chairman in accordance with the Act. One person may hold more than one 

office, except that the Chairman shall not hold the office of Secretary. Terms of office for 

officers, other than the Chairman, shall not exceed two years. 

All officers, other than the Chairman, shall be subject to removal from office, with or 

without cause, at any time by a vote of a majority of the entire Board. 

A vacancy in the office of any officer, other than the Chairman, shall be filled by a 

vote of a majority of the directors.  

4



Page 4 of 6  

 

Section 2. Powers and Duties of the Chairman. The Chairman shall serve as the 

Chairman of the Board and shall preside at all meetings of the Board. He/She shall be in 

general charge of the properties and affairs of the Zone, shall execute all service contracts, 

conveyances, franchises, bonds, deeds, assignments, notes and other instruments in the 

name of the Zone and subject to the Rules and Procedures of the City. 

Section 3. Vice-Chairman. The Vice-Chairman shall be a member of the Board, shall 

have such powers and duties as may be assigned to him by the Board, shall exercise those 

powers and duties, and shall exercise the powers of the Chairman during that officer's 

absence or inability to act. Any action taken by the Vice-Chairman in the performance of 

the duties of the Chairman shall be deemed a rebuttable presumption of the absence or 

inability to act of the Chairman at the time such action was taken. 

Section 4. Secretary. The Secretary shall keep the minutes of all meetings of the 

Board in books provided for the purpose, he/she shall have charge of such books, records, 

documents and instruments as the Board may direct, all of which shall at all reasonable time 

be open to inspection, and he/she shall in general perform all duties incident to the office of 

Secretary subject to the control of the City Council and the Board. 

Section 5. Staff. Staff functions for the Board may be performed by the City 

Manager or his designee. 

Section 6. Compensation. Officers who are members of the Board shall not receive 

any salary or compensation for their services, except that they shall be reimbursed for their 

actual expenses incurred in the performance of their official duties as officers. 

ARTICLE IV  

PROVISIONS REGARDING BYLAWS 

Section 1. Effective Date. These Bylaws shall become effective upon adoption by the 

Board and approval by the City Council. 

  

5



Page 5 of 6  

 

Section 2. Amendments to Bylaws. These Bylaws may be amended by majority vote 

of the Board, provided that the Board files a written application to the City Council 

requesting approval of such amendment, specifying in such application the amendment or 

amendments proposed. If the City Council, by appropriate resolution, finds and approves 

the form of the proposed amendment(s), the Board shall proceed to amend the Bylaws. 

After consultation with the Board, the Bylaws may also be amended at any time by the City 

Council by adopting an amendment to the Bylaws by resolution of the City Council and 

delivering the Bylaws to the Secretary of the Board. 

Section 3. Interpretation of Bylaws. These Bylaws and all the terms and 

provisions hereof shall be liberally construed to the purposes set forth herein. If any word, 

phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph, section or other part of these Bylaws, or the application 

thereof to any person or circumstance, shall ever be held to be invalid or unconstitutional by 

any court of competent jurisdiction, the remainder of these Bylaws and the application of 

such word, phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph, section or other part of these Bylaws to any 

other person or circumstance shall not be affected thereby. 

ARTICLE V 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 

Section 1. Resignations. Any director or officer may resign at any time. Such 

resignation shall be made in writing and shall take effect at the time specified therein, or, if 

at no time specified, at the time of its receipt by the Mayor, City Council and/or City 

Manager. 

Section 2. Approval or Delegation of Power by the City Council. To the extent that 

these Bylaws refer to any approval by the City or refer to advice and consent by the City 

Council, such approval, delegation, advice and/or consent shall be evidenced by official 

action of the City Council through an ordinance, resolution, or motion. 

  

6



Page 6 of 6  

 
 
 

Approved TIRZ No. 1 Board of Directors: _____________________________ 
 Chairman 
Date: ________________ 
 

 

 

 
Approved City Council: _________________________________ 
 Mayor 
 
Date: ________________________ 

7



    
 
 
To:  Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone No. 1 Board 
 
From:  Carolyn D. Miller 
  Assistant City Manager-Chief Financial Officer 
 
Subject: Appointment of a Vice-Chairman and a Secretary for the TIRZ No. 1 Board  
 
Date:  November 29, 2019 
 
 
This agenda item is for the appointment of a Vice-Chairman and a Secretary as outlined in 
Article 3 of the Bylaws. The Vice-Chairman shall exercise the powers of the Chairman during 
that officer’s absence or inability to act.  The Secretary shall keep the minutes of all meetings 
of the Board and he/she shall have charge of such books, records, and documents of the 
Board.  

8



    
 
 
To:  Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone No. 1 Board 
 
From:  Carolyn D. Miller 
  Assistant City Manager-Chief Financial Officer 
 
Subject: Approval of Resolution No. TIRZ-2019-01 
 
Date:  November 27, 2019 
 
 
This agenda item is for the approval of Resolution No. TIRZ-2019-01 giving approval of the 
Final Project and Finance Plan for the Zone. A Preliminary Project and Finance Plan was 
approved on December 20, 2018 and we are presenting the final plan for review and approval 
today.  Significant items in the Plan are summarized below. 
 

Section 1.3 The Zone – the original property included approximately 2,201 acres 
which will be amended by City Council action on December 19, 2019 to include 
additional property containing approximately 199 acres as described in Exhibit A and 
depicted in Exhibit B.  The original property and the additional property together form 
the Zone, including approximately 2,400 acres as described by metes and bound in 
Exhibit C, and depicted in Exhibit D.  
 
Section 2.2 Proposed Uses – proposed uses are shown on the map in Exhibit E. 
 
Section 6.2 Locations of Public Improvements – the estimated locations of the 
proposed Public Improvements are shown and described on Exhibit F.  
 
Section 7. Estimated Project Costs – the total project costs for the Zone are estimated 
to be $32.2 million in 2019 dollars as set forth on Exhibit G. 
 
Section 8. Estimated Time When Cost Are to Be Incurred – project costs will be 
incurred during time intervals as shown on Exhibit H. 
 
 
 

9



Approval of Resolution No. TIRZ-2019-01 
Page 2 

 

Section 9. Economic Feasibility – an economic feasibility study over the term of the 
Zone is attached as Exhibit I.   

• New development that occurs in the Zone (which would not have occurred but 
for the Zone) will generate approximately $64.4 million in total new property 
tax revenue over the term of the Zone (30 years).    

• These projections assume an annual property value inflation factor of 3% with 
two years of 0% growth every ten years to simulate a market downturn. 

• During the term of the Zone, the City will deposit into the TIRZ Fund an 
amount that equals 50% of the City’s real property taxes levied and collected 
from the City’s Tax Increment for that year. 

 
Section 10. Estimated Bonded Indebtedness – the appropriate portion of the City ad 
valorem tax increment within the Zone will be placed in a dedicated TIRZ Fund which 
may be used in three ways: 

1) The Zone may issue debt to pay for public improvements specified in the Plan; 
2) The TIRZ Fund may be used to reimburse the City for General Obligations or 

Certificates of Obligation debt service payments issued to construct public 
improvements specified in this Final Plan; 

3) The TIRZ Fund may be used to reimburse private developers that fund public 
improvements  

 
Section 11. Total Appraised Value – the current total appraised value of taxable real 
property in the Zone is $266,689,080 and is estimated that upon expiration of the term 
of the Zone, the total appraised value of taxable real property in the Zone will be 
$1,233,142,515 in 2019 dollars.  
 
Section 15. Economic Development Programs – this section authorizes economic 
development programs that may include grants of lawfully available money from the 
TIRZ Fund when such programs are for activities that benefit the Zone and stimulate 
business and commercial activity in the Zone. 
 
We recommend approval of the Final Project and Finance Plan and approval of 
Resolution No. TIRZ-2019-01.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

10



TAX INCREMENT REINVESTMENT ZONE NUMBER ONE 
CITY OF BRENHAM 

 
 

RESOLUTION NO. TIRZ-2019-01 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE TAX INCREMENT REINVESTMENT ZONE 
NUMBER ONE, CITY OF BRENHAM BOARD APPROVING THE TAX 
INCREMENT REINVESTMENT ZONE NUMBER ONE, CITY OF 
BRENHAM FINAL PROJECT AND FINANCE PLAN; MAKING CERTAIN 
FINDINGS; AND PROVIDING FOR AN IMMEDIATE EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 

WHEREAS, the Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone Number One, City of Brenham Board 
(the "Board") has been duly appointed in accordance with State law; 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Brenham, Texas (the “City”) City Council (the “City Council”) 
previously approved the creation of the Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone Number One, City of 
Brenham (the “Zone”) via City Council Ordinance No. O-18-019 on December 20, 2018 (the 
“Creation Ordinance”); and 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council previously approved the Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone 
Number One, City of Brenham Preliminary Project and Finance Plan via the Creation Ordinance; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, the Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone Number One, City of Brenham Final 
Project and Finance Plan (the “Final Project and Finance Plan”) has been prepared for the Zone; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, upon full review and consideration of the Final Project and Finance Plan and 

all matters attendant and related thereto, the Board is of the opinion that the terms and conditions 
thereof are in the best interests of the City and its citizens and should be approved; and 
 

WHEREAS, all constitutional, statutory and legal prerequisites for the passage of this 
Resolution have been met, including but not limited to the Open Meetings Act. 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TAX INCREMENT REINVESTMENT 
ZONE NUMBER ONE, CITY OF BRENHAM BOARD, THAT: 
 

SECTION 1. The recitals set forth in the WHEREAS clauses of this Resolution are true 
and correct and are incorporated as part of this Resolution. 

 
SECTION 2. The Board approves the Final Project and Finance Plan, attached hereto as 

Exhibit A. 
 

  

11



SECTION 3. The Board recommends to the City Council approval of the Final Project 
and Finance Plan. 

 
SECTION 4. This Resolution shall become effective from and after its date of passage in 

accordance with law. 
  

PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE TAX INCREMENT REINVESTMENT ZONE 
NUMBER ONE, CITY OF BRENHAM BOARD, ON THIS THE 5th DAY OF DECEMBER 
2019. 
 
       
 
             

Mayor Milton Y. Tate, Board Chairman 
ATTEST: 
 
 
       
Board Secretary 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Cary Bovey, City Attorney 
 
 

  

12



Exhibit A 
 

Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone Number One, City of Brenham 
Final Project and Finance Plan  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

[The remainder of this page intentionally left blank.] 

13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113


	TIRZ #1 - Board Agenda - FINAL Certified with numbers
	(1) TIRZ Board Memo for Approval of Bylaws
	(2) TIRZ Bylaws (11-22-19)
	BYLAWS OF TAX INCREMENT REINVESTMENT ZONE NUMBER ONE
	ARTICLE II
	ARTICLE III
	OFFICERS
	ARTICLE V
	GENERAL PROVISIONS

	TIRZ Board Memo for Appointment of Officers
	(1) TIRZ Board Memo for Approval of Resolution Final Project and Finance Plan
	(2) Resolution (11-14-19)
	(3) 2019 TIRZ Final Project and Finance Plan (11-26-19)



